ORIGINAL

RECEIVED  
CLERK OF SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

\* \* \*01 APR -6 PM 2:36

WILLIAM WITTER,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

FILED

APR 12 2001

JANETTE M. BLOOM  
CLERK OF SUPREME COURT  
BY *J. Bloom*  
CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK

Case No. 36927

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

DAVID M. SCHIECK, ESQ.  
LAW OFFICE OF DAVID M. SCHIECK  
302 EAST CARSON AVE., STE. 600  
LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89101

STEWART BELL, ESQ.  
DISTRICT ATTORNEYS OFFICE  
200 S. THIRD STREET  
LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. WHETHER WITTER RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF  
COUNSEL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

WILLIAM LESTER WITTER (hereinafter referred to as WITTER) was charged in an Information filed on January 21, 1994 with Murder with use of a Deadly Weapon; Attempt Murder with use of a Deadly Weapon; Attempt Sexual Assault with use of a Deadly Weapon; and Burglary. It was alleged that WITTER killed James Cox and sexually assaulted Kathryn Cox on November 14, 1993. (1 APP 1-5) After a preliminary hearing on January 7, 1994 WITTER was bound over to District Court and was arraigned and entered not guilty pleas on January 25, 1994. (2 APP 287) The State filed a Notice of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty on January 25, 1994.

After an eight (8) day trial WITTER was convicted of all counts. (2 APP 60-62; 63-66) The penalty hearing lasted four (4) days and resulted in a sentence of death. At formal sentencing the Court ran the sentences on all other counts consecutive to the murder conviction (2 APP 306). WITTER was represented by Phil Kohn and Kedric Bassett of the Clark County Public Defender's Office at trial.

The Public Defender also represented WITTER on direct appeal. The conviction and sentence were affirmed in Witter v. State, 112 Nev. 908, 921 P.2d 886 (1996). WITTER'S Petition for Writ of Certiorari was denied by the United States Supreme Court on May 12, 1997.

On September 18, 1997 David M. Schieck, Esq. was appointed as counsel for WITTER on his post conviction relief proceedings

1 and a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post Conviction) was  
2 timely filed October 27, 1997. (1 APP 67-98) Supplemental  
3 Points and Authorities were filed on August 11, 1998 (1 APP 99-  
4 137). An evidentiary hearing was granted and took place on  
5 February 26, 1999. (2 APP 178-229) After the parties filed  
6 post hearing briefs the District Court denied relief and  
7 Findings of Fact, Conclusion of Law and Order were entered on  
8 September 25, 2000. (2 APP 270-82; 283-84)  
9

10 The instant appeal was filed on October 23, 2000. (2 APP  
11 285-86)  
12  
13  
14  
15  
16  
17  
18  
19  
20  
21  
22  
23  
24  
25  
26  
27  
28

STATEMENT OF FACTS

**TRIAL PHASE**

For purposes of this appeal, as was done for the post conviction proceedings, WITTER submits a summary of the underlying facts from the Opinion issued by this Court in Witter v. State, 112 Nev. 908, 921 P.2d 886 (1996):

"On November 14, 1993, Kathryn Cox (Kathryn) was working as a retail clerk for the Park Avenue gift Shop located in the Luxor Hotel in Las Vegas, Nevada. James Cox (James), Kathryn's husband, drove a taxicab in the Las Vegas area. At about 10:25 p.m., Kathryn called James and informed him that she was having trouble with her car and needed assistance. James told her that he would be over to pick her up in about twenty-five to thirty minutes. Kathryn returned to her car, got in, locked her door, and began to read a book.

About five to ten minutes later, the passenger side door opened, and William Witter got into the car. Witter demanded that Kathryn drive him out of the lot. When Kathryn informed him that she could not, Witter stabbed her just above her left breast. Witter pulled Kathryn closer to him and told her that he was going to kill her. After stabbing Kathryn several more times, Witter became quiet, unzipped his pants and ordered Kathryn to perform oral sex. Kathryn attempted to comply with his demands, but because she had a punctured lung, she kept passing out. Witter pulled Kathryn into a sitting position and told her, "You're probably already dead." Kathryn managed to open her door and attempted to run away, but was only able to get about ten to fifteen feet before Witter caught her. Witter forced Kathryn back into the car and forced her to kiss him. He then used his knife to cut away Kathryn's pants and began to fondle her vaginal area with his finger.

Kathryn observed her husband's cab pull up next to the driver's side of her car. Witter, not knowing that James was Kathryn's husband, held Kathryn close and stated, "Don't say anything. I'm going to tell him that you're having a bad cocaine trip." James opened the driver's side door of Kathryn's car and told Witter to get out. Witter got out of the car,

1 walked over to James, and stabbed him numerous times.  
2 James fell backwards and into Kathryn, who had gotten  
3 out of the car, knocking her to the ground. Kathryn  
4 got up and ran for a bus stop. Once again, Witter  
5 caught Kathryn and carried her back to her car.  
6 After pulling the rest of Kathryn's clothes off,  
7 Witter attempted to stuff James' body underneath  
8 James' cab. Kathryn then heard hotel security  
9 approaching her vehicle.

10 A security officer in charge of patrolling the  
11 Excalibur Hotel's employee parking lot approached  
12 Kathryn's car and confronted Witter. After a short  
13 standoff, the security officer's backup arrived, and  
14 Witter was subdued. Paramedics arrived a short time  
15 later, and Kathryn was taken to the hospital where  
16 she eventually recovered from her injuries. James  
17 was already dead when the paramedics arrived."

#### 18 **PENALTY PHASE**

19 In the Supplemental Points and Authorities filed by WITTER  
20 in District Court WITTER included a detailed summary of the  
21 evidence presented at the penalty hearing. Citation therein  
22 was to the record on appeal from WITTER'S direct appeal. No  
23 issue was raised by the State that the summary did not  
24 accurately describe the evidence presented by both parties at  
25 the penalty hearing. WITTER therefore references the  
26 Supplemental Points and Authorities for the following factual  
27 summary.

28 On January 11, 1986 in San Jose, California WITTER went to  
the home of a former girlfriend, Gina Martin, and stabbed David  
Rumsey, her date for that evening. Property damage was also  
done, including slashed tires, broken flower pots and broken  
drapes. (1 APP 107)

At the time WITTER confronted Martin and Rumsey in the

1 residence carport, WITTER stated, "Come on, you white punk.  
2 I'll kill you. What are you doing with my old lady?" When  
3 WITTER was arrested, he yelled "Sure, I stabbed him. I should  
4 have brought my gun." The arresting officer noted that at the  
5 time he took WITTER into custody there was an odor of alcohol  
6 about his person, as well as slurred speech and glassy eyes and  
7 other testimony established that WITTER had a blood alcohol  
8 level of .21 percent at the time of his arrest (1 APP 107).  
9

10 Linda Rose testified that she supervised WITTER on parole  
11 for the conviction arising out of the above-described incident  
12 (1 APP 107). WITTER sustained parole suspensions or additional  
13 incarceration time for incidents of absconding, in-custody  
14 misconduct, reckless driving, use of alcohol and use of  
15 methamphetamine. An "institutional summary" described a  
16 variety of arrests sustained by WITTER and that was an alcohol  
17 abuser. On one occasion Rose arrested WITTER in her office and  
18 WITTER agreed to the arrest and was cooperative throughout the  
19 handcuffing and search procedure (1 APP 108).

20 WITTER was arrested on July 20, 1993 for possession of an  
21 illegal weapon and vandalism arising out of throwing rocks  
22 through the windows of an ex-girlfriend's apartment. At the  
23 time of arrest WITTER had a strong odor of alcohol on his  
24 breath and bloodshot watery eyes (1 APP 108). Over WITTER'S  
25 objection, the arresting officer was allowed to tell the jury  
26 based on photographs of tattoos, that he concluded that WITTER  
27 was possibly a gang member even though the arrest of July 20,  
28

1 1993 had nothing to do with gang activity (1 APP 109). Officer  
2 Timothy Jackson of the San Jose Police Department was also  
3 allowed to testify that in his opinion WITTER was a gang  
4 member. Jackson had contact with WITTER on October 9, 1993 on  
5 a domestic violence call. Property damage had been done to  
6 both a residence and vehicle (1 APP 109).  
7

8 Thomas Piptone, a corrections officer at the Clark County  
9 Detention Center testified that on August 4, 1994 he conducted  
10 a search of WITTER'S cell and found a sharpened clip from a  
11 clipboard. WITTER denied to Piptone that the item was his, and  
12 denied any involvement with it (1 APP 109).

13 A number of witnesses testified that WITTER came from an  
14 alcoholic environment and that his mother drank during her  
15 pregnancy. The witnesses included; Ruth Fabela (Aunt), Tina  
16 Whitesell (sister), and Louis Witter (father). (1 APP 110-11)

17 Whitesall described the environment of their youth and  
18 recalled seeing their mother in bed with different men and one  
19 one of them hitting WITTER with a cane. She also remembered  
20 incidents of her mother chasing their father with a knife, and  
21 of him hitting her while she was pregnant. Their father wasn't  
22 around much because he was in prison. (1 APP 110) Defendant's  
23 father, Louis Witter, told the jury that he had three felony  
24 convictions for robbery, firearms possession by an ex-felon,  
25 and rape. He also acknowledged having problems with alcohol,  
26 heroin, methamphetamine, barbiturates and "whatever I could get  
27 my hands on." He described WITTER'S mother as an alcoholic and  
28

1 heroin addict. When WITTER was older, he and his father would  
2 shoot up methamphetamine together. (1 APP 110-11)

3 Psychologist, Dr. Louis Etcoff testified that he conducted  
4 a three hour interview with WITTER in August of 1994, after  
5 having reviewed arrest reports, discovery, voluntary statements  
6 and the preliminary hearing transcript. Neuropsychological,  
7 IQ and two objective personality tests were administered to  
8 WITTER. The resultant diagnoses were: attention deficit  
9 hyperactivity disorder, marijuana, alcohol and amphetamine  
10 abuse, and antisocial personality disorder. According to  
11 Etcoff, WITTER grew up in one of the most dysfunctional  
12 families that he could remember studying and would have been  
13 better off without parents than having the parents that he  
14 had." In later testimony, Etcoff described WITTER'S background  
15 as "the quintessential environment that would produce someone  
16 who kills." (1 APP 111-12) Dr. Etcoff told the jury that  
17 alcohol has a disinhibiting effect, lessening people's control  
18 of their behavior. "[A]lcohol disinhibits in the brain a  
19 person's ability to stop whatever is inside from coming out."  
20 All of these factors, made WITTER a very violent person,  
21 especially when under the influence of amphetamine-like  
22 substances and particularly alcohol. WITTER told Dr. Etcoff  
23 that his bout of drinking on the night of the incident was  
24 brought about by his girlfriend informing him that same night  
25 that she had aborted their baby. This event generated a great  
26 amount of anger in WITTER. (1 APP 112)  
27  
28

**EVIDENTIARY HEARING**

On February 26, 1999 an evidentiary hearing was conducted in support of WITTER'S Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus with the following testimony elicited:

Philip Kohn had been a licensed attorney since 1978 in California and since 1985 in Nevada. (2 APP 180) He was employed by the Clark County Public Defender from November, 1992 through January, 1999 at which time he became the Clark County Special Public Defender. (2 APP 180) He became the head of the murder team in November 1994. (2 APP 181) In November or December 1993 he was assigned to act as lead attorney for WITTER. (2 APP 181) Kedric Bassett served as second chair when the case proceeded to trial in June, 1995.

Kohn became aware of fetal alcohol syndrome (FAS) approximately during the summer of 1994 and undertook to investigate whether such a defense could be present in WITTER'S case. (2 APP 183-84). He, however, never hired an expert in FAS, which he admitted was a mistake. (2 APP 184) There was a picture of WITTER put into evidence when he was two or three years old in which his eyes look like they are right out of the book on FAS. (2 APP 186) In June 1995 when they went to trial Kohn had made contact with FAS experts but had not retained them nor met them in person. (2 APP 187)

The Court had denied Kohn's last request for continuance when he was working on FAS as a defense because he could see that WITTER was retarded. (2 APP 187) WITTER'S adolescent

1 behavior was also consistent with FAS in that he was well  
2 behaved until he was 14 and first started to drink and that was  
3 when he started getting in trouble. (2 APP 188)

4 One problem that Kohn had was that the FAS experts  
5 required a geneticist to examine WITTER and he could not find  
6 one. (2 APP 189-90) He could have made arrangements for a  
7 geneticist but he needed one more continuance from the Court  
8 and the request was denied. (2 APP 192) In chambers the trial  
9 judge told Kohn that if he had O.J.'s money he could do  
10 something like this, but did not believe Kohn could ever get it  
11 on. (2 APP 192) Kohn was unable to give the trial court a  
12 time from as to when the doctors would be able to come to Las  
13 Vegas and conduct the necessary examinations. (2 APP 194)  
14 Kohn was emphatic in chambers that a great deal could be done  
15 in the penalty phase. (2 APP 195)

17 At the penalty hearing Kohn laid the foundation for a FAS  
18 defense through witnesses about WITTER'S mother's alcohol  
19 problems. (2 APP 196)

20 The State presented evidence at the penalty hearing that  
21 WITTER was a member of a gang. (2 APP 197) Kohn had no notice  
22 that such evidence was going to be presented. (2 APP 198)  
23 When the State indicated that it would be calling experts on  
24 gangs from California, Kohn asked for a continuance, which was  
25 denied. (2 APP 199) If he had any idea what was coming he  
26 would have called a gang expert. (2 APP 200) He believed he  
27 could get a gang expert from California on short notice but not  
28

1 within the next four days between verdict and the scheduled  
2 start of the penalty hearing. (2 APP 201)

3 Kohn had no plan of defense for the guilt portion of the  
4 trial, his only goal was to keep WITTER from receiving the  
5 death penalty. (2 APP 203) Kohn tried to keep as much  
6 credibility as possible in the guilt phase so the jury would  
7 listen to him in the penalty phase. (2 APP 203) WITTER was  
8 not happy about this as he wanted to win the case. (2 APP 204)  
9 Kohn was satisfied that was no defense to the murder charge and  
10 that to come up with some half-baked idea to give the jury  
11 would have turned them off. (2 APP 204) It was a strategic  
12 decision not to present a defense during the guilt phase. (2  
13 APP 205) It was not his intent to waive objection to the  
14 presentation of the State's evidence. (2 APP 205)

15 Kohn testified concerning the failure to object to  
16 portions of the State's Opening Statement, which are discussed  
17 in the argument section below. (2 APP 205-8) Some of the  
18 failures to object were strategic and some were because he  
19 missed them. (2 APP 208)

20 Kohn did not submit a jury instruction at the penalty  
21 phase limited use of character evidence, but has since done so.  
22 (2 APP 209) He didn't argue it in WITTER'S case but should  
23 have done so. (2 APP 209) It was not a strategic decision.  
24 (2 APP 210)

25 Kohn tries cases differently now as a result of continued  
26 training, experience, and the evolution of issues. (2 APP 211-  
27  
28

1 12) If he tried WITTER'S case over again he would get a much  
2 better trial this time and he would have done things  
3 differently. (2 APP 212)

4 Robert Miller, a twenty year attorney with the Clark  
5 County Public Defender's Office prepared the direct appeal in  
6 WITTER'S case. (2 APP 220) Miller had not raised the Batson  
7 issue on direct appeal because he felt it wasn't a clean issue  
8 to present and that he did not have a chance to succeed based  
9 on the record. (2 APP 221-22) Miller felt it was incumbent  
10 upon him to raise all issues which he felt might have merit in  
11 both the federal or state system. (2 APP 222-23)

12 Miller failed to point out in his request for rehearing of  
13 the denial of the direct appeal that the Court had incorrectly  
14 stated that Kohn had a year's notice of a shank being found in  
15 WITTER'S cell. (2 APP 223-24) Miller simply missed the point.  
16 (2 APP 224) Miller did not raise the burden shifting argument  
17 of the State in closing argument because the objection had been  
18 sustained and the jury admonished. (2 APP 225) Miller could not  
19 recall why he had raised the jury selection issue involving  
20 consideration of mitigation. (2 APP 226) The bad acts from the  
21 PSI was not raised because Miller did not believe it would  
22 succeed, but if he was doing it over would raise the issue. (2  
23 APP 227) Finally, Miller did not raise the admission of  
24 gruesome photographs because he did not believe it would  
25 succeed in State court or turn the tide in federal court. (2 APP  
26 228)  
27  
28

ARGUMENT

I.

WITTER RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE  
ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

The United States Supreme Court in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984) set forth the standard for determining the merits of a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. In Strickland, supra, the Court stated in relevant portion:

"A convicted defendant's claim that counsel's assistance was so defective as to require reversal of a conviction or death sentence, has two components. First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the counsel guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction or death sentence resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable."

Id. 466 U.S. at 687, 194 S.Ct. at 2064. The question of whether a defendant has received ineffective assistance of counsel at trial in violation of the Sixth Amendment is a mixed question of law and fact and is thus subject to independent review. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 698, 104 S.Ct. 2070. State v. Love, 109 Nev. 1136, 865 P.2d 322 (1993). Independent review of the findings of the district court after the evidentiary hearing shows that the findings are not supported in substantial portion by the record of the proceedings.

1           The Sixth Amendment guarantees that a person accused of a  
2 crime receive effective assistance of counsel for his defense.  
3 The right extends from the time the accused is charged up to  
4 and through his direct appeal and includes effective assistance  
5 for any arguable legal points. Anders v. California, 386 U.S.  
6 738, 87 S.Ct. 1396, 18 L.Ed.2d 493 (1967). The United State  
7 Supreme Court has consistently recognized that the right to  
8 counsel is necessary to protect the fundamental right to a fair  
9 trial, guaranteed under the Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process  
10 Clause. Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 53 S.Ct.55, 77 L.Ed.  
11 158 (1932); Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9  
12 L.Ed.2d 799 (1963). Mere presence of counsel does not fulfill  
13 the constitutional requirement: The right to counsel is the  
14 right to effective counsel, that is, "an attorney who plays the  
15 role necessary to ensure that the trial is fair." Strickland,  
16 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 657 (1984); McMann v.  
17 Richardson, 439 U.S. 759, 771, 90 S.Ct. 1441, 25 L.Ed.2d. 763  
18 (1970).

19  
20           Pre-trial investigation is a critical area in any criminal  
21 case and failure to accomplish same has been held to constitute  
22 ineffective assistance of counsel. The Nevada Supreme Court in  
23 Jackson v. Warden, 91 Nev. 430, 537 P.2d 473 (1975) stated:

24           "It is still recognized that a primary requirement is  
25 that counsel . . . conduct careful factual and legal  
26 investigations and inquiries with a view toward  
27 developing matters of defense in order that he make  
28 informed decisions on his client's behalf both at the  
pleading stage . . . and at trial."

1 Jackson 91 Nev. at 433, 537 P.2d at 474. The Federal Courts  
2 are in accord that pre-trial investigation and preparation for  
3 trial are a key to effective representation of counsel. U.S.  
4 v. Tucker, 716 F.2d 576 (1983).

5 In U.S. v. Baynes, 687 F.2d 659 (1982) the Court, in  
6 language applicable to this case, stated:  
7

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