2			
3	AD	F	ILED
4	UNI	GINAL MA	Y 22 2001
5			ETTE M. BLOOM SUPREME COURT F DEPUTY CLERK
6	Appellant,) BY CHE	F DEPUTY CLERK
7	v .) CASE	NO. 36927
8	THE STATE OF NEVADA,)	
9	Respondent.		
10			
11			
12	RESPONDENT'	SANSWERING BRIEF	
13	Appeal From Ju Fighth Judicial Div	dgment Of Conviction trict Court, Clark Count	n an
14		trict Court, Clark Count	
15			
16	DAVID M. SCHIECK, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 000824 Law Office of David M. Schieck	STEWART L. BEL Clark County Distri	L ct Attorney
17	Law Office of David M. Schieck 302 East Carson Avenue	Clark County Distri Nevada Bar No. 00 Clark County Court	0477 House

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

14

1

2

3

4

A. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL COUNSEL

In considering whether trial counsel has met this standard, a court should first 15 determine whether counsel made a "sufficient inquiry into the information . . . pertinent 16 to his client's case." Doleman v State, 112 Nev. 843, 846, 921 P.2d 278, 280 (1996); 17 citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690-691, 104 S.Ct. at 2066. Once this decision is made, 18 a court should consider whether counsel made "a reasonable strategy decision on how 19 to proceed with his client's case." Doleman, 112 Nev. at 846, 921 P.2d at 280; citing 20 Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690-691, 104 S.Ct. at 2066. Finally, counsel's strategy decision 21 is a "tactical" decision and will be "virtually unchallengeable absent extraordinary 22 circumstances." Doleman, 112 Nev. at 846, 921 P.2d at 280; see also Howard v State, 23 106 Nev. 713, 722, 800 P.2d 175, 180 (1990); Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691, 104 S.Ct. 24 at 2066; State v. Meeker, 693 P.2d 911, 917 (Ariz. 1984). 25

Based on the above law, a court begins with the presumption of effectiveness and then must determine whether or not defendant has demonstrated, by "strong and convincing proof," that counsel was ineffective. <u>Homick v State</u>, 112 Nev. 304, 310,

913 P.2d 1280, 1285 (1996); citing Lenz v. State, 97 Nev. 65, 66, 624 P.2d 15, 16 1 (1981). The role of a court in considering allegations of ineffective assistance of 2 counsel, is "not to pass upon the merits of the action not taken but to determine 3 whether, under the particular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed 4 to render reasonably effective assistance." Donovan v. State, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 5 P.2d 708, 711 (1978); citing Cooper v. Fitzharris, 551 F.2d 1162, 1166 (9th Cir. 1977). 6 This analysis does not mean that the court should "second guess reasoned choices 7 between trial tactics nor does it mean that defense counsel, to protect himself against 8 allegations of inadequacy, must make every conceivable motion no matter how remote 9 the possibilities are of success." Donovan, 94 Nev. at 675, 584 P.2d at 711; citing 10 Cooper, 551 F.2d at 1166. In essence, the court must "judge the reasonableness of 11 counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time 12 of counsel's conduct." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S.Ct. at 2066. In applying this 13 standard of review, the district court did not err in finding that the defendant was 14 represented by the effective assistance of trial counsel. 15

16 17 1.

The District Court Did Not Err In Finding That Defense Counsel's Decision To Not Present a Fetal Alcohol Syndrome Defense. Which Counsel Investigated, Was An Effective Strategic Decision

In his Petition, the defendant alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failing
to investigate and retain an expert on Fetal Alcohol Syndrome ("FAS"). (AA 116118). The district court found that this claim did not entitle the defendant to relief
because trial counsel did investigate a FAS defense. (AA 272-273). The district court
further found that counsel's ultimate decision to not present a FAS was effective
because even if counsel had presented a FAS defense, such defense would have been
unsuccessful. (AA 273).

At the evidentiary hearing, the defendant questioned his trial counsel Phillip Kohn regarding the FAS defense. (AA 182-199). After hearing this testimony, the district court found that trial counsel did investigate a FAS defense. (AA 272-273). This finding was based on the following: Trial counsel flew to San Jose, California

where he researched defendant's family background and spent one week interviewing 1 2 witnesses. (AA 183). Trial counsel also read The Broken Chord by Michael Doris, which detailed the symptoms and effects of FAS, which was a ground-breaking field 3 in 1994 and 1995. (AA 182, 186). Trial counsel learned that he would need a 4 5 geneticist to support a claim of FAS. (AA 190). To locate a geneticist, counsel contacted three university medical facilities and eventually located a local geneticist, 6 Dr. Colene Morris. (AA 189-191). Trial counsel contacted Dr. Morris on at least ten 7 occasions, but each time she refused to speak with him. (AA 189-190). Trial counsel 8 9 then contacted several defense attorneys in an effort to obtain the name of a FAS expert. (AA 195). Trial counsel contacted FAS experts who resided in Seattle, but 10 they refused to meet with defendant until he was first examined by a geneticist. (AA 11 191). Trial counsel requested a continuance to allow time for such examination, which 12 the trial court denied. (AA 194-195). Trial counsel then contacted five alcohol-related 13 experts, none of whom were able to testify about FAS due to the newness of the field. 14 (AA 197). At the penalty phase of trial, counsel presented testimony from the 15 defendant's family that the defendant's mother was an alcoholic and also presented 16 testimony from a licensed psychologist who testified that defendant may have had 17 attention deficit disorder, antisocial personality disorder, and developmental arithmetic 18 disorder. (AA 273). 19

The district court's ruling that trial counsel effectively investigated a FAS 20 defense should be affirmed by this Court. At the time counsel was preparing for trial, 21 little was known about FAS, yet counsel conducted extensive investigation into 22 presenting this possible defense. Because a court must "judge the reasonableness of 23 counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time 24 of counsel's conduct," the defendant can not show that the district court erred in 25 finding that trial counsel's investigation of a FAS defense was effective. Strickland, 26 27 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S.Ct. at 2066.

28

18

The district court also did not err in ruling that trial counsel's ultimate decision 1 to not present a FAS defense was effective because a FAS defense would not have 2 been successful. (AA 273). The district court found that the defendant failed to 3 present any evidence that FAS would have been a valid defense in his case. (AA 273). 4 Although the defendant was granted the opportunity to present evidence at an 5 evidentiary hearing, the defendant failed to present evidence as to what a FAS expert 6 would have said had such expert been obtained, which the defendant was required to 7 8 do under <u>Hargrove v. State</u>, 100 Nev. 498, 500, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). Because the defendant failed to present facts to support his allegations, the district court 9 correctly found that the defendant's bare allegations did not entitled him to relief. (AA 10 273). 11

This Court should also affirm the district court's ruling that the defendant was 12 unable to show that the outcome of his case would have been different had trial counsel 13 retained a FAS expert to testify at trial because FAS is a mitigator, not an affirmative 14 defense. (AA 273). A diagnosis of FAS "would place nothing more than a label on 15 16 [defendant's] lower intelligence and behavioral problems, evidence which was already before the jury. With or without the diagnosis or label, the defense could argue that 17 such evidence mitigated in favor of the lesser sentence." State v. Brett, 892 P.2d 29, 18 64 (Wash. 1995). 19

In light of the fact that FAS would not have been a successful defense in this 20 case, the district court did not err in ruling that trial counsel's decision to not present 21 a defense was an effective trial strategy. (AA 273). Trial counsel testified that because 22 of the insurmountable evidence of defendant's guilt, he deliberately chose to not 23 present a defense during the guilt phase so as to preserve his credibility at the penalty 24 phase. (AA 204). The district court's affirmance of trial counsel's decision recognizes 25 that not every crime is defensible, and an attorney is not required to "do what is 26 impossible or unethical. If there is no bona fide defense to the charge, counsel cannot 27 create one and may disserve the interests of his client by attempting a useless charade." 28

19

United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 656 n.19, 104 S.Ct. 2039, 2046 n.19 (1983).
The decision not to dispute defendant's guilt in order to preserve credibility for the
penalty phase was a proper trial strategy. <u>People v. Bolin</u>, 956 P.2d 374, 400 (Cal.
1998). Counsel's strategy was a "tactical" decision, as such, it was "virtually
unchallengeable absent extraordinary circumstances." <u>Howard v State</u>, 106 Nev. 713,
722, 800 P.2d 175, 180 (1990).

During the penalty phase, trial counsel presented testimony from several 7 members of the defendant's family who testified that the defendant's mother had 8 abused alcohol. (AA 273). Trial counsel also presented testimony from a licensed 9 psychologist who testified that defendant may have had attention deficit disorder, 10 antisocial personality disorder, and developmental arithmetic disorder. (AA 273). Trial 11 counsel also presented testimony from Dr. Etcoff, who testified about the effects of 12 alcohol on the defendant for the penalty phase. (AA 273). Despite this testimony, the 13 jury still found the defendant guilty and still found that death was the appropriate 14 sentence. Therefore, the district court's finding that the defendant failed to sustain his 15 burden of proof under Strickland was not error. (AA 273). 16

Based on the above, this Court should affirm the district court's ruling that trial
counsel effectively investigated a FAS defense and effectively decided to not present
a FAS defense.

20 21 2. <u>The District Court Did Not Err In Finding That Defense Counsel's</u> <u>Decision To Not Present Testimony From A Gang Expert Was An</u> <u>Effective Strategic Decision</u>

In his Petition, the defendant alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to call a gang expert in order to explain away the testimony the State presented during the penalty phase regarding gangs and gang violence. (AA 118-120). The district court did not err in finding that this claim did not entitle the defendant to relief because counsel could not have anticipated the need to present such testimony and the decision to not present such testimony did not prejudice the defendant. (AA 273-274).

28

At the evidentiary hearing, the defendant questioned trial counsel Kohn 1 regarding his decision to not call a gang expert during the penalty phase. (AA 198-2 203). Trial counsel testified that he did not call a gang expert because he believed that 3 gang evidence was only admissible if defendant had been a gang member at some point 4 in his life. (AA 200). However, the defendant did not tell counsel that he previously 5 had been affiliated with a gang. (AA 199). Because counsel relied on the defendant's 6 representations that he was not a gang member, counsel could not have anticipated that 7 the State would present evidence of the defendant's gang involvement. (AA 199). The 8 district court's ruling that trial counsel's decision to not call a gang expert correctly 9 recognized that, "The reasonableness of counsel's actions may be determined or 10 substantially influenced by the defendant's own statements or actions. Counsel's 11 actions are usually based, quite properly, on informed strategic choices made by the 12 defendant and on information supplied by the defendant." Krauss v. State, 998 P.2d 13 163, 165 (Nev. 2000), quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691, 104 S.Ct. at 2054. (AA 14 273-274). 15

The district court also did not err in finding that the defendant was not 16 prejudiced by trial counsel's decision to not call a gang expert at the penalty phase. 17 (AA 274). The district court ruled testimony from a gang expert was not necessary to 18 refute many of the claims made by the State's gang experts. (AA 274). This finding 19 is supported by a previous ruling by this Court in this case. (AA 274). In Witter, the 20 defendant claimed that the trial court had abused its discretion in denying his motion 21 for continuance, which counsel had asked for so that he could secure a gang expert to 22 testify at the penalty phase. 112 Nev. at 919, 921 P.2d at 894. In denying this claim, 23 this Court stated in part, "We also conclude that even if Witter were able to secure 24 expert testimony regarding gang violence in prisons, such testimony would have done 25 little to mitigate his involvement." 112 Nev. at 920, 921 P.2d at 894. 26

The district court properly found that trial counsel's decision not to call a gang expert was reasonable in light of the defendant's representations that he was not a gang

21

member. (AA 273). Moreover, in light of this Court's ruling that gang expert
testimony would have added little to the defense, the district court properly found that
habeas relief was precluded because the defendant had failed to meet the prejudice
prong of <u>Strickland</u> ineffective assistance of counsel test. (AA 274).

5

3.

6

7

8

9

10

11

<u>The District Court Did Not Err In Finding That Defense Counsel's</u> <u>Decision To Not Object To The State's Closing Argument Was An</u> <u>Effective Tactical Decision</u>

In his Petition, the defendant alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the State's opening statement. (AA 122-124). The district court properly found that this claim did not entitle the defendant to relief because trial counsel's decision to refrain from objecting enabled defense counsel to preserve his credibility for the penalty phase and therefore was an effective trial strategy. (AA 274).

At the evidentiary hearing, the defendant questioned trial counsel Kohn regarding his decision to not object to the State's opening statement. (AA 205-208). Trial counsel testified that he did not object because he was "trying to curry favor with the jury" in the hopes that the jury would be more willing to listen to him during the penalty phase. (AA 206). The district court found that this decision was an effective trial strategy, and as such, was "virtually unchallengeable absent extraordinary circumstances." <u>Howard</u>, 106 Nev. at 722, 800 P.2d at 180. (AA 274-275).

The district court did not err in finding that the prosecutor's statements were 19 appropriate because the prosecutor was entitled to outline his case and propose the 20 facts he intended to prove in his opening statement. Rice v. State, 113 Nev. 1300, __, 21 949 P.2d 262, 270 (1997). Even if the prosecutor overstates what he is later able to 22 prove, misconduct is not present unless he does so in bad faith. Id. In Browne v. 23 State, 113 Nev. 305, 310, 933 P.2d 187, 190-91 (1997), this Court held that reference 24 to a defendant as a "selfish and cruel man" did not rise to the level requiring reversal. 25 See People v. Benson, 802 P.2d 330, 353-54 (Cal. 1990) (holding prosecutor's 26 comment "this crime is perhaps the most brutal, atrocious, heinous crime," was merely 27 a comment on the nature of the offense and was permissible); see also State v. 28

Runningeagle, 859 P.2d 169, 173 (Ariz. 1993) (holding that prosecutor's use of the 1 words "horror" and "evil" were merely a characterization of the evidence that should 2 have been in closing argument instead of opening statement, but a new trial was not 3 4 warranted).

The district court also did not err in ruling that the defendant was not prejudiced 5 by counsel's decision to refrain from objecting because any impropriety in the State's 6 opening statement would have been harmless error. (AA 275). NRS 178.598 says that 7 8 any error which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded. Error is harmless if it appears, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the error complained of did not 9 10 contribute to the verdict obtained. Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 828 (1967). The question is whether the jury would have returned a verdict of 11 guilty if it had not been exposed to the error. United States v. Hastings, 461 U.S. 499, 12 510-11, 103 S.Ct. 1974, 1981 (1983). Any impropriety in the State's opening 13 statement would have been harmless because there was overwhelming evidence of the 14 defendant's guilt, which included the identification of the defendant by one of the 15 victims (Kathryn Cox), three security guards, and the bus driver; physical evidence 16 17 of the deceased victims blood found all over the defendant, and a confession by the defendant that he committed the killing. (AA 276). In light of this overwhelming 18 evidence, the defendant cannot refute the district court's finding that trial counsel's 19 decision to refrain from objecting was an effective trial strategy. 20

21

4.

- 22
- 23
- 24

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